IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,802

COLLIER COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA and GUY L. CARLTON, as Tax Collector of Collier County, Florida,

Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR COLLIER COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

C. Allen Watts, of COBB COLE & BELL Post Office Box 2491 150 Magnolia Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32115-2491 (904) 255-8171 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from a final judgment of the Circuit Court for Collier County (COLLIER), refusing validation of certain revenue anticipation notes proposed by Ordinance 98-25 of the County, upon the answer and objections of the State Attorney (STATE) and Guy B. Carlton, Tax Collector of Collier County (TAX COLLECTOR). The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(2), FLA. CONST., § 75.08, FLA. STAT. (1997) and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i).

<u>Overview</u>

Article VII, §2 of the Constitution requires that nonexempt properties be subject to ad valorem taxation at a uniform rate within a governmental unit. By statute, property is valued on January 1 for taxes which become payable on the following November 1. § 192.042, FLA. STAT. (1997). By statute, cities and counties are required to utilize a fiscal year commencing October 1. § 129.04, FLA. STAT. (1997).

The Board of County Commissioners (the "Board") discerned that the interrelationship of these statutes creates a windfall to certain taxpayers, not contemplated or required by the Constitution. (A-50). Property improvements substantially completed after October 1 and before January 1 of a fiscal year incur no ad valorem taxes for the balance of that fiscal year. Property improvements substantially completed after January 1 of a fiscal year incur no ad valorem taxes for the balance of that fiscal year, and for the entirety of the following fiscal year. As a result of that windfall, the burden of taxation upon the nonexempt properties of the

County is inordinantly increased, particularly during periods of rapid growth when the ratio of newly-completed property to taxed property is high.

The Board also determined that improved properties require an increase in government services, and that a portion of the cost of certain county services is dependent upon and responsive to the increase of improved property in the County. (A-50). Accordingly, the Board commissioned a study of the fixed costs and the growth-sensitive costs of these services. (A-70-108). Based on that study, the Board adopted Ordinance 98-25 (the "Ordinance"). (A-49-69).

Briefly, the Ordinance determines that improved properties (not otherwise tax-exempt by reason of homestead, use, or classification) receive a special benefit. (A-50). The benefit is conferred in each fiscal year in which such properties cause measurable increases in the variable costs of certain services, without incurring taxes. The benefit is measured by the pro rata share of the growth-sensitive portion of the cost. Only that portion of the cost which would otherwise be funded by ad valorem taxes is considered. A credit is granted for such taxes as are payable. After the required notices and hearings, a roll is adopted annually and a non-ad valorem assessment equal to the benefit is levied and collected under the uniform method prescribed in § 197.3134 *et seq.*, FLA. STAT. (1997). If the uniform method cannot be used, the saving clause provides for the same amount to be collected upon completion of the improvement and issuance of a certificate of occupancy.

There are separate assessments imposed for each eligible (*i.e.* growth-sensitive) service. (A-53-64). In cases where differing levels of service are provided in the unincorporated area, or a service is provided only in the unincorporated area

(identified as the Municipal Services Tax District), a separate assessment is imposed on properties in that area for that differential service. The Ordinance further requires that the collections be sequestered and spent only for the payment or reimbursement of the identified government services, whether countywide or limited to the unincorporated area, and for the year the service is provided. (A-67). In order to ensure that the revenues and expenditures are properly balanced in the fiscal year when service is provided, the Ordinance authorizes Revenue Anticipation Notes to be issued in the year in which the cost is incurred, repayable upon actual collection of the assessments. (A-67). It is these Notes which the County seeks to validate in this proceeding.

The STATE and the TAX COLLECTOR did not challenge COLLIER's findings or its methodology for allocating the special benefits, or any procedural aspects of the ordinance adoption or the validation proceedings, but only the authority of COLLIER to impose the non-ad valorem assessment without legislative approval. The Circuit Court likewise recognized that without the assessment, existing taxpayers are inordinantly burdened and others receive a windfall. (A-220). Nevertheless the Circuit Court held that the Legislature's failure to address the disparity was beyond COLLIER's authority to remediate through local ordinance. (A-226-227). From the final judgment denying validation, COLLIER has timely appealed directly to this Court.

The Tischler Report

COLLIER commissioned Tischler and Associates, Inc. to study the service structure of the County and its financing for purposes of calculating interim service

fees to newly completed properties. (A-52). Section 5.1 of the Ordinance incorporates that report by reference. (A-70-108). The report was admitted into evidence (A-196), and Paul Tischler testified at length, at the validation hearing. (A-144-177).

The first step was the ascertainment of those activities whose operating expenses are (1) paid through the General Fund (A-72-77), and (2) likely to increase due to growth.¹ (A-78-93). Non-ad valorem revenues are subtracted from the expenses to determine the net operating cost. (A-71).

The second step was the determination of the most appropriate measurement of demand generation, which may be population growth or, in the case of commercial properties, employment base. (A-100-108).

The third step involved correlation of the demand generator to the various property uses. (A-71). This task was accomplished by converting per capita costs to per-home costs (in the case of residential properties) or per-employee or per-square foot costs (in the case of nonresidential uses). (A-72-73). Special demand generators were utilized for services of the Sheriff (incident frequency) (A-80-82) and Public Works (lane-miles of road). (A-89-90).

Assessments under the Ordinance

The report determined that numerous government costs were fixed, and are *not* impacted by growth: Board of County Commissioners, County Attorney, Property Appraiser, Tax Collector, Clerk of Circuit Court, Clerk of County Court, Clerk of the Board, Community Development (Administration), Housing/Urban Development, Natural Resources, County Manager, Franchise Management, Management & Budget, Public Services (Administration), Agriculture, Social Services, Veterans' Services, Lawrence Center (mental health), Stormwater Management, Support Services (Administration), Human Resources, Property Management, 800 MHz (Communications), and Forestry. (A-78).

Section 5.2 describes the process for determining the actual assessments for Sheriff's services. (A-53). Incident calls requiring a deputy's response increase with growth. First, the cost of each incident call (net of fixed administrative expense) is determined. Then the proportion of calls generated by each improved property type (residential, hotel, retail, office, industry) is determined, so that a cost per property type can be calculated.² (A-54).

This cost is then multiplied by the fraction of the Sheriff's budget funded from the General Fund, and multiplied again by the fraction of the General Fund consisting of ad valorem tax revenues. (A-54). The result is the assessment for Sheriff's services, which in the case of a single-family home is \$213.99. (A-53). For those additional services of the Sheriff provided exclusively in the unincorporated area, the assessment on a single-family home is \$36.41. (A-53).

The Ordinance requires a credit to be given against the total assessment, equal to the taxes payable. (A-65). Those taxes may be the taxes due on vacant land, or taxes due on already-improved property prior to construction of an addition. A further credit is available, equal in value to a homestead exemption from County taxes, for properties otherwise eligible for homestead exemption if they were taxable.

A similar process is utilized under Section 5.3 of the Ordinance, calculating the population-variable costs of the Supervisor of Elections (*e.g.* poll workers, absentee ballots) on a per capita basis, converting that number to a per-home basis, and

-

²Incident calls in respect of vacant or agricultural property continue to be allocated entirely to the General Fund.

determining what proportion would otherwise be funded through ad valorem taxes. The assessment is \$117.49 per single family home. (A-54).

Section 5.4 imposes an assessment for Code Enforcement services, provided only in the unincorporated area. The cost is \$8.63 per single family home. (A-55).

Section 5.5 imposes an assessment for that part of the County-funded cost of the judicial system which is population-sensitive and funded by ad valorem taxes. (A-56-57). The cost is \$27.65 per single family home. (A-56).

Section 5.6 imposes an assessment for animal control and disposal services. The cost per single-family home is \$3.09. (A-57).

Section 5.7 imposes an assessment for countywide library services. (A-57-58). The cost per single-family home is \$23.14. (A-58).

Section 5.8 imposes an assessment for parks and recreational services. (A-58-59). The cost countywide is \$38.66 per single family home. (A-58). An additional assessment of \$14.74 per home is imposed for services rendered exclusively in the unincorporated area. (A-58).

Section 5.9 imposes an assessment for public health services, including environmental health and engineering. (A-59-61). The cost is \$4.58 per single family home. (A-59).

Section 5.10 imposes an assessment for the population-sensitive costs of the Medical Examiner's Office. The cost is \$4.20 per single family home. (A-61).

Section 5.11 imposes an assessment for that portion of countywide road maintenance otherwise funded by ad valorem revenues. (A-61-63). It is based on the maintenance cost per lane-mile of road, allocated on the basis of the lane-mile

demand (average number of daily trips multiplied by trip length, divided by the total daily capacity of a lane-mile) of each property type. (A-62-63). The cost is \$2.93 per single family home. (A-61).

Section 5.12 imposes an assessment for various support service costs which are growth-sensitive, including building maintenance, emergency medical services and security. (A-63-64). The cost is \$56.26 per single family home. (A-63).

Section 6 acknowledges that properties eligible for tax exemption under Chapter 196, FLA. STAT., receive no special benefit by escaping taxation (A-64-65). Accordingly, owners may apply for total exemption.

Section 7 provides for credits against the total of all assessments. (A-65). Each assessed property is entitled to a credit against the total assessment, for taxes actually due. In addition, for any person eligible for a homestead exemption, the amount of \$25,000 times the applicable ad valorem tax rate is subtracted as a credit. Because of the additional millage in the Municipal Services Tax District, the credit is slightly larger in that unincorporated area.

Section 8 provides for annual review of assessments. (A-65).

Section 9 provides for preparation of an assessment roll by the County Administrator (A-66), and Section 10 provides for adoption of the roll by the Board, concurrent with the required budget hearings under § 200.065(2)(c), FLA. STAT. (1997). (A-66). Section 11 provides for collection by the uniform method set forth in § 197.3632, FLA. STAT. (1997). (A-66).

Section 12 requires the proceeds of the assessments to be deposited in a special fund, and utilized only for transfers to reimburse the General Fund for provision of

County services to the properties which are subject to the assessment. (A-66). This section also authorizes issuance of Revenue Anticipation Notes to fund the cost of services for a fiscal year for which assessments are imposed but are not yet payable. When the assessments are collected, they may be expended to retire the Notes. (A-67).

Section 14 provides for appeals and adjustments, including:

- 1. A claim that the amount of the assessment exceeds the special benefit received by virtue of the escape of such property from taxation. (A-67).
- 2. A claim that the amount of the assessment, in combination with ad valorem taxes actually paid, imposes a nonuniform share of the costs of government services upon the property. (A-67).
- 3. A claim that the amount of the assessment, in combination with ad valorem taxes actually paid, is an aggregate sum that, if the assessment were an ad valorem tax, would exceed the constitutional limit. (A-67).

Section 17 provides for severability. (A-68). It specifically provides that if the method specified for collection as a non-ad valorem assessment is held invalid, the amounts shall remain due and shall be deemed regulatory fees necessitated by, proportional to, and segregated for, the cost of government services provided to new construction without compensation. (A-68-69). Such fees are payable by the owner upon issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. (A-69).

The Complaint for validation alleged the findings of the Board and the adoption of the Ordinance, and COLLIER's intent to issue not more than \$700,000 in Revenue Anticipation Notes for the fiscal year. The State Attorney answered the

Complaint and alleged that the Ordinance imposed a tax not authorized by general law. (A-114-115). The Tax Collector also answered and expressed his concern that, because the assessment would become a lien on homestead property (or rather, property which may be eligible for homestead exemption after occupancy), its legality should be assured. (A-116-117). He denied a number of allegations (A-117-122) in the complaint, and affirmatively alleged a lack of constitutional or statutory authority. (A-122-123).

Upon final hearing, there was no procedural objection to the adoption of the ordinance or the validation proceedings themselves. The STATE and the TAX COLLECTOR offered no evidence to challenge the legislative findings or the computation and allocation of benefits in the Ordinance. The circuit court acknowledged the current statutory loophole and the windfall to certain citizens, and the commendable efforts of the County to recoup its lost revenue. (A-220). The court nevertheless concluded that the assessments undergirding the Revenue Anticipation Notes were taxes not authorized by general law, and thus denied validation (A-227), leaving only "the inescapable, obvious and burning question to the trial court: Where is the Florida Legislature." (A-223).

Standing both on its constitutional duty to restore equity and its own constitutional right to legislate, COLLIER has timely appealed.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

THE COUNTY HAS INHERENT AUTHORITY TO DETERMINE AND IMPOSE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS IN THE ABSENCE OF CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROHIBITION

II.

PROPERTIES EXCUSED BY LAW FROM TAXATION ARE SPECIALLY BENEFITTED

III.

THE ASSESSMENTS DO NOT VIOLATE ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION

IV.

THE COUNTY'S LEGISLATIVE DETERMINATION AND ALLOCATION OF BENEFITS IS ENTITLED TO JUDICIAL DEFERENCE

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate review of a bond validation proceeding is limited to "whether the issuing body had the authority to act under the constitution and laws of the state and to ensure that it exercised that authority in accordance with the spirit and intent of the law." *McCoy Restaurants, Inc. v. City of Orlando*, 392 So.2d 252, 253 (Fla.1980); *Murphy v. City of Port St. Lucie*, 666 So.2d 879, 880 (Fla. 1996). Its objective is to put in repose any question of law or fact affecting the validity of the bonds. *State v. Manatee County Port Authority*, 171 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1965); *North Shore Bank v. Surfside*, 72 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1954). These questions may include the validity of underlying agreements or ordinances. *State v. City of Daytona Beach*, 431 So.2d 981

(Fla. 1983); *State v. Brevard County*, 539 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1989). In the review of the policy judgment and necessity for the underlying ordinance, the Court's review is of legislative facts, and the standard for judicial review, both as to the existence of a special benefit and its proper apportionment, is whether the matter is fairly debatable. *Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, Inc.*, 667 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1995).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has long acknowledged that it is permissible for local governments to impose user fees and special assessments under home rule authority. Such fees and assessments are not considered taxes, so long as two prongs are satisfied. First, their imposition rationally remediates a legitimate governmental need. Second, the amount imposed is roughly proportional to the burden imposed upon or benefit received from the community. The judiciary will not disturb legislative judgments on these matters unless they are arbitrary.

The trial court correctly acknowledged that the properties subject to the County's special assessment receive a windfall or benefit. That issue was not seriously contested and is not cross-appealed.

The trial court erred in concluding that the County requires legislative authority to impose such assessments. Where the determination and allocation of benefits was unchallenged, the trial court was bound to approve the assessments and the notes dependent upon them, unless there is some constitutional prohibition or contrary general law.

The assessments are rationally related to an increased demand for governmental services, and are proportional to that demand. They meet the tests established by this Court to distinguish between permissible regulatory fees, exactions or assessments and impermissible taxes. Accordingly, they are not "taxes" requiring legislative authorization under the Constitution. The fact that a governmental exaction is involuntarily imposed does not render it a tax. The ordinance also appropriately protects homesteads, and ensures that constitutional millage caps cannot be indirectly violated.

There being no legal impediment, the trial court was bound to defer to the legislative determinations of COLLIER with respect to the existence of special benefits and the allocation of assessments. No contrary evidence was presented, no judicial findings adverse to COLLIER were made on this point, and there is no crossappeal.

ARGUMENT

The 1968 Constitution and the confirming statutes which shortly followed it (*e.g.* Chapters 71-14 and 73-129, Laws of Florida) destroyed the "local bill evil" and freed local populations from the shackles of Dillon's Rule.³ The Court has since consistently acknowledged that local populations are free to govern themselves in local matters.

In fiscal matters, the promise of home rule has been only partly fulfilled. Under the Constitution, a true "tax" must be the subject of a statewide law. *Alachua County v. Adams*, 702 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1997)(special act was unconstitutional where it allowed uses of local option sales tax not permitted by general law). Not every locality in the state will simultaneously require or support an additional tax. Hence, locally-elected legislators have been slow to approve for their own constituents any statewide tax authorization which might be necessary for the relief of a colleague's community.

Florida's counties are diverse. In counties where tax-favored woodlands are plentiful and homesteads are modest in value, a mill of property taxes will generate comparatively little revenue, and ironically will fall with disproportionate force on scarce industry. On the other end of the spectrum, even in apparently prosperous and fast-growing counties, a subsidy of new development may be political intolerable, especially when aggravated by a dependence on the property tax and the disjunction of the tax and budget calendar observed here.

CWA\KPE\BRIE\262429.2 036503-001

³"Dillon's Rule" holds that local governments have only those powers specifically delegated by the Legislature. John F. Dillon, The Law of Municipal Corporations § 55 (1st ed. 1872)

The chafing of a "one-size-fits all" local fiscal structure has been exacerbated by unfunded Legislative mandates. In 1968, fully two-thirds of annual state and local governmental expenditures were made at the state level. By 1990, these proportions were reversed.⁴

Through these thirty years, the Court has allowed local democratically-elected bodies to address the issues of how to finance their government, at their own political peril. These local governments are simultaneously required to protect private property rights,⁵ provide expanded public infrastructure and services which are undergraded by the impact of growth,⁶ and do it all with a plan that is approved by the State as financially feasible.⁷

To meet their increasing responsibilities, local governments have been forced to resort to an array of local service fees, impact fees and special assessments. This Court has developed a two-prong "dual rational nexus" test for distinguishing between such authorized regulatory impositions, and unauthorized taxes. Its decisions have presaged more recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court in *Nollan v. California Coastal Commission*, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 3141, 97 L.Ed.2d 677 (1987) (measure must rationally advance a legitimate governmental purpose) and *Dolan v. City of Tigard*, 512 U.S.374, 114 S.Ct. 2309, 129 L.Ed. 2d 304 (1994)

⁴The people braked this process slightly through adoption of Article VII, §18, Fla. Const. (1990).

⁵See Chapter 70, FLA. STAT. (1995), the "Bert J. Harris, Jr. Private Property Rights Protection Act," which requires statutory compensation for government regulation well below the threshold of a constitutional taking.

⁶§ 163.3180, FLA. STAT. (1997)

⁷§163,3177(3), Fla. Stat. (1997).

(measure must be roughly proportional in its impact). This Court also requires that such funds be earmarked for an identifiable (or specific) purpose. *Contractors and Builders Association v. City of Dunedin*, 329 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1976).

The Court has recently shown signs of deep division as to whether it will continue or recede from this course. In *State v. City of Port Orange*, 650 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1994), the Court invalidated, as a "tax," a transportation utility fee that was nothing more than the "operational expense" counterpart of the "capital expense" transportation user fee which the courts had approved decades ago.⁸

In *Port Orange*, Justice Wells wrote for a unanimous Court that constitutional millage caps and homestead exemptions could not be circumvented by creative measures. *Cf.* § 163.3202(3), FLA. STAT. (1997) ("This section shall be construed to encourage the use of innovative land development regulations which include provisions such as ... impact fees.")

In *Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ*, 667 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1996), the Court by a 4-3 margin approved a stormwater utility fee. Justice Wells, joined by Justice Harding, expressed in dissent his concern that such measures were taxes, but none of the opinions mentioned *Port Orange*.

In *Harris v. Wilson*, 693 So.2d 945 (Fla. 1997), the Court by a 5-2 margin approved a countywide, partial-year special assessment for solid waste collection.

CWA\KPE\BRIE\262429.2 036503-001

⁸See Homebuilders & Contractors Assn of Palm Beach County v. Board of County Commissioners, 446 So.2d 140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983, review denied 451 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1984), appeal dismissed 469 U.S. 976 (1984). The Legislature afterward became a convert; see § 163.3180(11)(d) and (e).

On the heels of *Harris v. Wilson* came the 4-3 decisions in *State v. Sarasota County*, 693 So.2d 546 (Fla. 1997), approving broadened special assessments for stormwater protection, and *Lake County v. Water Oak Management*, 695 So.2d 667 (Fla. 1997), approving countywide special assessments for fire protection.

Between the closely-divided decisions in 1997 and the completion of the briefing of this case, three Justices will have retired from this Court. It is accordingly appropriate that the governing principles of local home rule, user fees and special assessments be surveyed and restated.

I. THE COUNTY HAS INHERENT AUTHORITY TO DETERMINE AND IMPOSE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS IN THE ABSENCE OF CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROHIBITION

Article VIII, s. 1(f) of the 1968 Constitution provides that noncharter counties shall have such power of local self-government as is provided by general or special law.

In *Speer v. Olsen*, 367 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1978), this Court acknowledged that the Legislature has provided broad authority to local governments to conduct their own affairs:

Chapter 125, FLA. STAT., implements the provisions of Art. VIII, Section 1(f), Florida Constitution (1968), which gives counties not operating under county charters, such as Pasco County, such powers of self-government as are provided by general or special law. This provision of the Florida Constitution also authorizes the board of county commissioners of such a county to enact ordinances in the manner prescribed by Chapter 125, FLA. STAT., which are not inconsistent with general law.

The intent of the Legislature in enacting the recent amendments to Chapter 125, FLA. STAT., was to enlarge the powers of counties through home rule to govern themselves.

The first sentence of Section 125.01(1), FLA. STAT., (1975), grants to the governing body of a county the full power to carry on county government. Unless the Legislature has pre-empted a particular subject relating to county government by either general or special law, the county governing body, by reason of this sentence, has full authority to act through the exercise of home rule power.

To similar effect is *State v. Orange County*, 281 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1973). There, Orange County proposed to issue revenue bonds secured by its share of racetrack and jai alai funds, without any specific legislative authority. In affirming the validation of those bonds, the Court noted:

There is little need for Section 125.01(1)(r) if a county still has to go to the Legislature to get special enabling legislation each time it wishes to issue bonds. The ordinance carefully tracks the enabling authority of the cited statutes. Under these circumstances there was no reason for the county to go to the Legislature for a special act.

The unquestioned object of Section 1(f), Article VIII, is to authorize a board of county commissioners of a county not operating under a charter (to) enact, in a manner prescribed by general law, county ordinances Not inconsistent with general or special law . . . ' (Emphasis supplied.) For a definition of the meaning of the word, 'inconsistent,' in this context, see State ex rel. Dade County v. Brautigam, Fla., 224 So.2d 688.

Instead of going to the Legislature to get a special bill passed authorizing such building fund revenue bonds, the Orange County Commissioners under the authority of the 1968 Constitution and enabling statutes now may pass an ordinance for such purpose, as they did in this case, because there is nothing inconsistent thereto in general or special law. On the contrary, there is ample Delegated authority for such purpose. The object of Article VIII of the 1968 Constitution was to do away with the local bill evil to this extent.

Id. at 312.

Noncharter counties, authorized by general law such as § 125.01, are not dissimilar to charter counties or to cities in the breadth of their home rule authority. In *City of Boca Raton v. State*, 595 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1992), this Court acknowledged and described the breadth of home rule authority to impose special assessments. The State and several property owners objected on the ground that the City had admittedly not complied with Chapter 170, FLA. STAT. The Court held that the 1968 Constitution and the statutes which acknowledged the home rule it had wrought, marked the demise of Dillon's Rule. Chapter 170 was now merely an additional authorization. The Court held that so long as the assessment met the basic two-prong test of benefit to the property and fair apportionment, it was within the home-rule power of the City.

The Court in *Boca Raton* pointed to its recent decision in *Taylor v. Lee County*, 498 So.2d 424 (Fla. 1986), which held that *noncharter counties* acting under the home rule authority of Chapter 125 need not comply with Chapter 159, FLA. STAT., in the adoption of a bond issue to finance a new bridge.

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