IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,802	

COLLIER COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA and GUY L. CARLTON, as Tax Collector of Collier County, Florida, and the TAXPAYERS, PROPERTY OWNERS, and CITIZENS OF COLLIER COUNTY, FLORIDA.

Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH

JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR COLLIER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH P. D'ALESSANDRO STATE ATTORNEY TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Michael J. Provost Assistant State Attorney 3301 E. Tamiami Trail 6th Floor Administration Building Naples, Florida 34112 (941) 774-8470

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Interim Governmental Services Fee seeks to levy a special assessment on properties when there is no logical relationship between the services provided and the benefit to the real property. This conclusion is based upon the evidence presented at the validation hearing which failed to show a benefit to the property, and the prior decision of this court in Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corporation 695 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1997).

There being no special benefit to the property, the Interim Governmental Services Fee is a tax imposed by Collier County in violation of Article VII, Section 1(a), Florida Constitution (1968).

ARGUMENT

1). THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING NO SPECIAL BENEFIT TO THE PROPERTY

The final judgment of the circuit court is based upon this court's decision in Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corporation 695 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1997) that for a special assessment to be valid, there must be a logical relationship between the services provided and the benefit to the real property. In addition to the above decision, the evidence presented at the bond validation hearing fails to establish that the "windfall" has a logical connection to the benefited property.

Collier County's Interim Services Fee was created to recoup the difference between what taxpayers pay for the services provided by the county when they own unimproved property and the services they receive after a certificate of occupancy is issued but before the improvements are placed fully on the tax rolls. This gap was classified as a "windfall" by the County and is the benefit that is the subject of the special assessment. The problem for the County, however, is that this "windfall" is not a benefit to the property, but to the taxpayer. The evidence presented by the County at the bond validation hearing supports this conclusion. Counsel for the County, in his opening remarks to the judge stated "We believe that this creates a windfall to that property owner". (emphasis Added) (Appendix p.133 lines 10-17). The County then attempts to pound the square peg of the benefit to the taxpayer into the round hole of benefit to the property. There is no logical relationship between the services provided and the benefit to real property. In fact, the County's own expert testified that they did not come up with a finding of a peculiar benefit to the property, and that the benefit inured to the property owner, not the property. (Appendix 166, lines 11-12, 22-23). In fact, the services were already being provided by the county. (Appendix 171, lines12-25). As there are no new services being provided, how can there be any special benefit to the property? The obvious answer is

that there is not. The circuit court was correct in saying that this was an issue that needed to be addressed by the legislature, not the courts.

This square peg into a round hole reasoning is exactly the circumvention by semantics that Justice Wells was concerned about in his dissenting opinion in Harris v. Wilson, 693 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 1997). This is especially true as the County gives a wink and a nod to the taxpayers by stating in it's brief that "the Ordinance thus compels a net *reduction* in the ad valorem taxpayer's burden", Appellants Brief at 38, but fails to point out to the same taxpayers that in the complaint for validation, the County was in no way obligated to reduce the millage rate of any ad valorem tax levy imposed and that the proceeds of the Certificates that were to be used to supplant ad valorem revenues *may* be carried forward to reduce ad valorem millage *in future years*. (Appendix p.8, paragraph 25, 26, p.16, paragraph 52, 53).

Oak case that certain services cannot be the subject of a special assessment. As the court held in *Water Oak*, services such as general law enforcement activities, the provision of courts, and indigent health care are functions required for an organized society. Those services, however, provide no direct, special benefit to real property. *Water Oak* at 670. These three

Services are three of the named services in the Interim Services Fee

Ordinance. The other services in the Ordinance; elections, code
enforcement, animal control, parks and recreation, medical examiner, and
support services, are likewise the type of functions required of an organized
society. There is simply no logical relationship between these services
provided and a benefit to real property.

2). THE INTERIM SERVICES FEE IS A TAX

In State v. City of Port Orange, 650 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994), this court reviewed a fee imposed upon owners of developed land for the maintenance of city roads. The City of Port Orange called the levy a user fee, this court disagreed, saying that semantics should not control the true identity and found that the fee was in actuality a tax. The court held that user fees, unlike taxes, are paid by choice. The court went on to see if the fee could be sustained as an impact fee as in Contractors and Builders Association of Pinellas County v. City of Dunedin 329 So. 2d 314 (Fla. 1976). This court in Contractors and Builders Association found that impact fees are reasonable if limited to meeting the cost of expansion. This is cited to by Appellant, but what Appellant fails to point out is that the court in Contractors and Builders Association went on to say that users "who benefit especially, not from the maintenance of the system, but by the

extension of the system...should bear the cost of that extension." Id. At 320. (emphasis added). That is the difference in this case. The Interim Services Fee is not for the extension of the services already provided, it is to maintain the level of services already provided. The use of an impact fee in this situation was expressly rejected in Contractors and Builders Association when the court said in footnote 11, page 321, "InProvo City, an ordinance like Dunedin's was upheld even though the fees were used for "general operating expenses." We reject the view these cases represent." (citation omitted). No evidence was presented at the hearing that the fees are for expansion of any facilities and none of the services listed in the Interim Services Fee specifically provide for the expansion of services or facilities.¹ The fee is merely to supplement costs of services already provided. This court in City of Port Orange distinguished an impact fee from a tax by pointing out that fees are in exchange for governmental services that benefit the party paying the fee in a manner not shared by other members of society,

¹ Section 5.2 Sheriff-assessment imposed for cost of services; Section 5.3 Elections-assessment imposed for training poll workers, providing notice of election, processing absentee ballots; Section 5.4 Code Enforcement-assessment imposed for daily code enforcement; Section 5.5 Courts-assessment imposed for county cost of courts; Section 5.6 Animal Control-assessment imposed for investigation, confiscation and care of declared dangerous dogs; Section 5.7 Libraries-assessment imposed for operating cost of enlarged library; Section 5.8 Parks and Recreation-assessment imposed for operating cost of parks and recreational services; Section 5.9 Public Health-assessment imposed for costs of Public Health Unit; Section 5.10 Medical Examiner-assessment imposed for cost of services for Medical Examiner; Section 5.11 Public Works-assessment imposed for cost of road maintenance; Section 5.12 Support Services-assessment imposed for cost of support services.

and that they are paid by choice. A tax, however, is an enforced burden imposed by sovereign right for the support of the government, the administration of law, and the exercise of various functions the sovereign is called to perform. *Port Orange* at 3. While Appellant will point out that they claim this is a special assessment, not an impact fee, semantics should not be used in deciding the true nature of this assessment. Based upon the reasoning of *Port Orange* and *Contractors and Builders Association*, the Interim Governmental Services Fee is a tax because it is used to pay for existing services the sovereign is called on to provide for an orderly society, it does not provide any special benefit to the property, and it is mandatory.

CONCLUSION

The services provided in the Interim Services Fee are not the type of services that can be subject to a special assessment because there is no rational relationship between the services and the benefited property. In particular, the benefit the County seeks to confer is one that inures to the property owner, not the property. In addition, the Interim Services Fee is actually a tax which is imposed without legal authority because the fee is mandatory and is not limited to paying for the expansion of new or existing services, but pays for the maintenance of existing services..

Therefore, the State of Florida would respectfully request the court to affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court.